Docket Number 74803In theSUPREME COURTFor theFor theSTATE OF NEVADAElectronically FiledJun 21 2018 09:55 a.m.Elizabeth A. BrownClerk of Supreme Court

Tae-Si Kim as an individual; and Jin-Sung Hong, as an individual;

Appellants,

V.

Dickinson Wright, PLLC, a Nevada Professional Limited Liability Company; Jodi Donetta Lowry, Esq., an individual; Jonathan M. A. Salls, Esq., an individual; Eric Dobberstein, Esq., an individual; and Michael G. Vartanian, Esq., an Individual

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Granting of Respondents' Dickinson Wright's Motion To Dismiss and Order Denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider the Order Granting Dickinson Wright's Motion To Dismiss

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order of the Eighth Judicial District Court in and for the City of Las Vegas of Clark County, issued on October 17, 2017, granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss Complaint. *See* Order Granting Mot. ("Order"), and the Court's Order denying Appellants' Motion to Reconsider the Order Granting the Motion To Dismiss that was entered on December 12, 2017. The district court's Order is appealable pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(3). On December 22, 2017, Appellants timely filed and served a notice of appeal, which came after the Order issued by the Court on December 22, 2017 and then filed the Case Appeal Statement on December 28, 2017.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7), because this case originated in the District Court.

III. STATE OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the District Court erred in its discretion in granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss based on the Respondents' proposed calculation of the relevant tolling statutes as applied with the statute of limitations.
- **B.** Whether the District Court erred in its discretion in granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss based on the Court finding that the

Attorney Judgment Rule allowed Respondents discretion as to when and upon whom to bring said litigation.

C. Whether the District Court erred in its discretion in granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss based on Respondent's claim that Appellants' claims against Dickenson Wright were time-barred under NRS 11.207.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background

Appellants brought the original Complaint against the Respondents following the dismissal of Appellants Federal Court Case in which the Respondents were retained to file a Malpractice Claim against the Attorney Damus for failure to file suit to protect the sale of Appellants Property. The Respondents elected to file the claims against multiple Respondents in Federal Court. However, Defendant Damus filed a Motion for Lack of Jurisdiction and prevailed. Appellants have alleged that such dismissal stopped any tolling statute and the statute of limitations began to run on filing a proper claim against Damus. Ultimately, Respondents never filed any other claim against Damus, terminated their relationship with the Appellants, and left Appellants with the obligation to bring appropriate claims against Damus in District Court, the same claims Respondents were retained to bring. Appellants contend that they timely brought an appropriate malpractice claim against Respondents for failure to file timely claims against Damus and based on the fact that Respondents violated an Order of the Federal Court that resulted in the dismissal of the Federal action.

B. General Statement of Facts

The recordings, filed documents, and all other notices are identified as follows:

A. Appellants Contracted with the Respondents to Sue Damus.

On August 20, 2009, Appellants retained the legal services of Gibson Lowry Burris LLP ("GLB), memorialized through a written agreement. In accordance with the terms of the Legal Services Agreement, Appellants were required to and did tender \$30,000.00 with payments to be paid in six (6) equal monthly payments. In accordance with the Agreement the Respondents were to represent the clients in litigation against all defendants named in the action. On May 31, 2012, Appellants entered into an Amended and Restated Legal services Agreement with Dickinson Wright PLLC, ("DW") which combined practices with GLB. Respondents continued to pursue claims against the remaining defendants in the case. (AA001-AA012).

In accordance with the Agreement "Litigation" was defined as an action in a court in Nevada against the Relevant Persons that the Client and the Firm has a good faith belief have perpetrated civil wrongs against the Client(s) in connection with the Page 3

Investment and/or breached contractual obligation(s) with respect to Client in connection with the Investment.

In accordance with the Agreement "Relevant Persons" was defined as any Person who solicited (or participated in the solicitation of) the Investment and/or any Person who engaged in effecting the Investment (whether directly or indirectly) during the time period that the Client engaged in activities aimed at securing ownership of the Investment.

In accordance with the Agreement "Defendants" was defined as the Relevant Persons that were named as "Defendants" in the Litigation.

On October 15, 2009, GLB filed a Complaint in the United States District Court, District of Nevada under case No. 2:09-cv-02008-RFB-GWF. On March 2, 2010, GLB filed an Amended Complaint in which additional Respondents were named and additional claims were brought. Specifically, claims against Charles M. Damus, Esq. for legal malpractice and negligent undertaking to perform services. (AA013-AA064).

On December 17, 2008, Appellants had originally retained the services of Charles M. Damus, Esq., to litigate and dispute certain real estate and other related claims regarding real property. Importantly, Damus was retained to prevent the foreclosure of the Property of which Appellants had tendered all payments. On September of 2009, Appellants terminated Damus due to the fact that no complaint had been filed and the foreclosure had occurred.

In the Amended Complaint it was alleged that Damus committed legal malpractice and negligent undertaking to perform services. In Damus' Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction it was admitted that he attempted to negotiate with Adam Kearney and was aware of the pending foreclosure. (AA065-AA078). After the foreclosure sale, without the filing of case to prevent the foreclosure, Damus was terminated. Since Appellants lost title to the Property and Damus had taken no reasonable steps to prevent the foreclosure sale, malpractice was clear and obvious.

On October 5, 2010, Damus filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. (AA065-AA078).

On October 22, 2010, the firm Dickinson Wright, PLLC filed Appellants' Response to Defendant Charles M. Damus, Esq.'s Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. (AA079-AA097).

On November 1, 2010, Damus filed a Reply to the Opposition.

On December 6, 2010, the Court entered an Order Granting Damus' Motion to Dismiss.

The Respondents admitted they never initiated a claim in the District Court

against Damus.

On July 30, 2015, Appellants received an email from Defendant Vartanian acknowledging that no suit had been filed against Damus and that as of the date of that email representation of the Appellants had ended. (AA098-AA99).

An examination of the Civil Docket for Case #: 2:09-cv-02008-RFB-GWF reveals that despite the July 30 claim, the Respondents never filed any pleading with the Court to have themselves removed as attorneys' of record. (AA100-AA152).

On August 6, 2015, the Federal Court issued an Order to Show, which specifically stated, "IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs Tae-Si Kim and Jin Sung Hong shall show cause, in writing, no later than August 14, 2015, why this case should not be dismissed with prejudice in its entirety in accordance with the Proposed Order included in the parties' Stipulation filed on June 16, 2015." (AA153-AA155).

On September 4, 2015, the Federal Court issued an Order Dismissing Case for failure to respond to the previous Orders. (AA159-AA161).

On June 12, 2017, Appellants filed their Complaint against the Respondents in the Eighth District Court of Nevada, Case No. A-17-756785-C. (AA162-AA172).

The Respondents filed their "Dickinson Wright's Motion to Dismiss" on August 8, 2017. Wherein the Respondents alleged that 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d), suspended the statute of limitations during the pendency of the federal action. Therefore, Appellants claims should have been brought against Damus and not the Respondents. Additionally, Respondents allege Appellants legal claim against Damus did not accrue until the conclusion of the federal action when their damages became certain. Further, the Respondents argued that their conduct was protected by 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d)'s which made the attorney judgment rule applicable to the instant litigation. (AA173-AA305).

Respondents filed their Opposition on September 7, 2017. Respondents argued that the tolling statutes did not apply to the malpractice claims against Damus as damages against Damus had already been identified when Damus failed to take any action to prevent the foreclosure of their Property. Therefore, when Damus was dismissed from the Federal litigation, with knowledge of the damages, there was duty by the Respondents to file an action in State Court. (AA306-AA322).

On October 17, 2017, an Order was entered granting Respondents Motion to Dismiss (AA323-AA329).

On November 6, 2017, the Appellants filed a Motion to Reconsider the Granting of Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. Appellants argued there was no underlying action in which the malpractice could have occurred by Damus as Damus had failed to file any action. Appellants argued that the only underlying action in

which malpractice occurred was when the Respondents failed to file an action against Damus. Further, Appellants argued that Plaintiffs' damages, or claims, against Damus were recognized when he failed to file the action preventing the foreclosure. Finally, Appellants argued that the Attorney Judgment Rule was Not Applicable. Simply because the Respondents elected to wait until the conclusion of the Federal Court to file an action against Damus, does not mean that such course of action did not violate the statute of limitations as it applied to the claims against Damus. (AA330-AA339).

Respondents Motion to Reconsider was denied. The corresponding Order was entered on December 12, 2017. (AA340-AA346).

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants position is straightforward and simple. The Appellants retained attorney Damus on December 17, 2008. The retention was to prevent the foreclosure of certain real property owned by the Appellants. Damus failed to file any action and the Property was foreclosed upon. Damus failed to file any action to set aside the foreclosure and the Appellants terminated his services.

The Appellants originally retained Gibson Lowry Burris, LLP to bring a malpractice claim against Damus, which said claims of malpractice were asserted in the Appellants Federal Amended Complaint filed on March 2, 2010. Damus filed a Motion to Dismiss that was granted and entered on December 6, 2010.

Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute 11.207, a malpractice claim must be filed within two (2) years of the last date of representation. Appellants claim that Respondents had to bring a State Court claim against Damus by a date certain in 2011. Respondents never brought any claim against Damus. By failing to bring a cause of action in State Court, Appellants contend that Respondents committed malpractice by failing to timely bring an action against Damus.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of law are reviewed de novo." Labor Comm'r of Nev. v.

Littlefield, 123 Nev. 35, 39, 153 P.3d 26, 28 (2007). "Factual determinations will be set aside only when clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence." *Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev. v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't*, 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004). In a facial challenge to a statute, the plaintiff "bears the burden of demonstrating that there is no set of circumstances under which the statute would be valid." *Deja Vu Showgirls v. Nevada Dep't of Taxation*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 73, 28, 334 P.3d 392, 398 (2014).

VII. ARGUMENT

The District Court granted Respondents Motion primarily based on the following legal arguments:

- (a) Under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d), the statute of limitations against Damus was suspended during the pendency of the Federal action, which occurred on September 4, 2015.
- (b) That Appellants claims against Damus did not accrue until the conclusion of the federal action. Thus Appellants should have brought a claim against Damus directly no later than September 4, 2017.
- (c) Further, even if such conduct did result in violations of the statute of limitations, Respondents' conduct was protected by the attorney judgment rule.
- A. Appellants' Claims Against Damus Were Not Tolled During the Federal Action.

Both Parties recognize the impact of *Brady, Vorwerck, Ryder & Caspino v. New Albertson's Inc.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 68, 333 P.3d 229 (August 7, 2014), on the instant litigation. However, the Parties disagree as to the application of *Brady*. The *Brady* Court held that the statute of limitations for attorney malpractice is tolled against an action for attorney malpractice pending the outcome of the underlying suit **in which the malpractice allegedly occurred.** This is a critical distinction that must be recognized as Respondents confuse the highlighted portion of the *Brady* decision. First, there is no dispute between the Parties that the allegations originally claimed that Damus had committed malpractice. The malpractice of Damus was committed during his representation of the Appellants. As Damus never filed any claim on behalf of the Appellants there was no litigation to toll the statute of limitations against Damus. Thus, *Brady* was not applicable to the claims of malpractice against Damus.

Second, even at the latest date, when Appellants retained GLB on August 20, 2009, it was clear that Appellants and their counsel recognized the malpractice claims against Damus. (The actual date was likely the date of termination, which occurred in 2008). Thus, Respondents should have filed any claim against Damus for malpractice no later than August 20, 2011. Respondents filed the action in the Federal Court against Damus on March 2, 2010. Approximately nine (9) months after retaining the Respondents. Damus was dismissed due to the lack of jurisdiction held by the Federal Court over state claims by parties domiciled in the same state, Nevada.

Third, there was no underlying action in which Damus committed malpractice. The litigation tolling rule does not apply against claims against Damus as his malpractice had already been recognized by the Appellants and the Respondents. Therefore, Respondents were required to bring the claims against Damus prior to August 20, 2011, the latest possible date. Respondents failed to ever bring any action against Damus.

Fourth, the *Brady* decision applies not to Damus, but to the exact conduct of the Respondents. Appellants allegation is that when the Respondents failed to file the appropriate claims against Damus prior to August of 2011, malpractice by the Respondents had occurred. Since, the malpractice occurred during the litigation, a claim of malpractice against the Respondents was tolled until the litigation was closed. Appellants Federal Complaint was dismissed on September 4, 2015. Therefore, Appellants cause of action was tolled until September 4, 2017. Appellants filed the Complaint at issue in this case timely on June 12, 2017. Appellants' argument is supported by Semenza v. Nev. Med. Liab. Ins. Co., 104 Nev. 666, 668, 765 P.2d 184, 186 (1998). The Court in Semenza, again detailed that a claim of malpractice is speculative when the underlying case is still pending. In applying that same reasoning to the instant matter, this Court must determine whether Appellants' claims against Damus were speculative, even though there was no underlying action, essentially, could Damus cure his malpractice by resolution of the case. The answer to the question is a resounding, negative. The claims against Damus were realized in that Appellants had lost their property to foreclosure by failure of Damus to timely file suit to protect their interest.

B. Appellants Claims Against Damus Never Tolled.

In *Fritzeen v. Gravel*, 175 Vt. 537, 830, A.2d 49, 52, 54 (2003) the Court found that the discovery of an injury triggers the statute of limitation, even though the extent of the damages is unsettled.

The Court in *Amfact Distribution Corp.*, 673 P.2d at 796, found that the end of the litigation in which the malpractice took place triggers the statute of limitations.

Again, as pointed out in both of these cases, the key issues was that the tolling rule only applied to cases where the malpractice occurred. This is factually distinguishable from the current litigation. Damus' malpractice occurred prior to any litigation. The damages arising from Damus' malpractice were recognized when Appellants lost their real property.

Appellants' damages were realized thereby setting in motion the malpractice claims against Damus. This is a critical factor in Appellants' claims against the present Respondents. In *Brady* and *Semenza*, the Courts focused on the fact that the plaintiffs therein had speculative damages because the underlying case was not procedurally completed and there were still reasonable alternatives for resolution of the matters. Those factual matters are in contrast to the Appellants' claims against Damus. The claims against Damus were valid as the malpractice had been committed and the statutory time to cure that malpractice had run. Since,

Appellants' could no longer reacquire their real property, their damages were realized. Therefore, Appellants' claims for malpractice against Damus were valid and not speculative. Respondents confuse this matter by claiming the underlying action was the Federal suit. Damus did not commit malpractice during the Federal suit as he did not represent the Appellants during that action. The only malpractice claims that could be tolled during the Federal action would be claims against the present Respondents.

C. Attorney Judgment Rule is Not Applicable.

Respondents claim that they informed Appellants that they could sue Damus at the conclusion of the Federal Action. Respondents allege that they reviewed the alleged relevant statutes and concluded that Appellants could bring their claims against Damus at the conclusion of the Federal Action. Unfortunately, as Appellants allege, Respondents misconstrued when the malpractice was committed.

Based the cases, as referenced above, it is clear that since there was no underlying action, the claims against Damus should have been brought prior to the conclusion of the Federal action. Further, as Appellants' alleged in the Complaint, malpractice was committed when Respondents brought suit against Damus in Federal Court. The Federal Court had no jurisdiction over Damus based on the state law claims of malpractice and unjust enrichment and the lack of diversity between the parties.

VII. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellants respectfully request that this Court overturn the District Court's decision granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss.