IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TAE-SI KIM, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND JIN-SUNG HONG, AN INDIVIDUAL,

APPELLANTS,

v.

DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC, A
NEVADA PROFESSIONAL LIMITED
LIABILITY COMPANY; JODI DONETTA
LOWRY, ESQ., AN INDIVIDUAL;
JONATHAN M.A. SALLS, ESQ., AN
INDIVIDUAL; ERIC DOBBERSTEIN,
ESQ., AN INDIVIDUAL; AND MICHAEL
G. VARTANIAN, ESQ., AN
INDIVIDUAL,

RESPONDENTS.

Electronically Filed
Jul 23 2018 09:42 a.m.
Supreme CoffizMoet/1803Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

District Court Case No. A-17-756785-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

MORRIS LAW GROUP Steve Morris, NV Bar No. 1543 Ryan M. Lower, NV Bar No. 9108 411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 360 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

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

⁶ "Under the final judgment rule embodied in 28 U.S.C. § 1291, parties may appeal only the 'final decisions of the district courts.' A final judgment under § 1291 is 'a decision by the District Court that ends the litigation on the merits and leaves nothing for the court to do but execute the judgment." *Dannenberg v. Software Toolworks Inc.*, 16 F.3d 1073, 1074 (9th Cir. 1994) (dismissing appeal of interlocutory order).

judgment in favor of some defendants, and settlements with and stipulated dismissals of other defendants.⁷

On July 30, 2015, Dickinson Wright informed the Kims in writing, in response to their inquiry on the subject, that an action against Damus had not been filed in state court. AA163 at ¶ 29; AA188. The firm also clearly told the Kims that they should contact another lawyer if they still wished to file an action against Damus, and terminated the firm's representation of them. Id. The complaint does not allege, and there is no evidence in the record showing, that Dickinson Wright or any of the other defendants represented the Kims after this point in time in any court. AA159–169. Shortly thereafter, on September 3, 2015, another attorney, Joseph Geller, appeared on the Kims' behalf in the federal case;8 thereby confirming the exit of Dickinson Wright as attorneys for the Kims.

⁷ AA274 at ECF Nos. 123, 125; AA275 at ECF No. 135; AA281–282 at ECF Nos. 213, 214; AA284 at ECF No. 245; AA285 at ECF No. 258; AA293 at ECF Nos. 369, 370, 374; AA296 at ECF No. 416.

⁸ AA297 at ECF No. 425.

The federal action remained pending until September 4, 2015, when the federal court entered a final order dismissing it with prejudice.

AA297 at ECF No. 426.

Instead of filing an action against Damus, the Kims waited until June 12, 2017 to file this action against Dickinson Wright. AA159–169.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court properly granted Dickinson Wright's motion to dismiss because the undisputed evidence in the record shows that: (1) the statute of limitations for the Kims' claims against Damus was tolled during the pendency of the federal action; (2) the Kims' legal malpractice claim against Damus did not accrue until the final conclusion of the federal action, when their damages became certain; (3) under the attorney judgment rule, Dickinson Wright's exercise of professional judgment as to when the Kims could re-file their claims against Damus in state court is not, as a matter of law, actionable; and (4)

the Kims' claims against Dickinson Wright are time-barred under NRS 11.207.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. The Statute of Limitations for the Kims' Claims against Damus was Tolled During the Pendency of the Federal Action Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d).

Although a key part of the district court's dismissal order is based on the tolling effect of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d) on the Kims' claims against Damus,⁹ they fail to address the operation of the statute in any respect in their opening brief. Thus, the Kims have waived any argument against the dispositive effect of the statute in this appeal.¹⁰

Moreover, as is shown below, Section 1367(d) is fatal to their claims against Dickinson Wright. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d) provides: "The period of limitations for any claim asserted under subsection (a) [supplemental jurisdiction], and for any other claim in the same action

⁹ AA324–325.

¹⁰ *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 161 n. 3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n. 3 (2011) (holding issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived) (citations omitted).

that is voluntarily dismissed at the same time as or after the dismissal of the claim under subsection (a), shall be tolled while the claim is pending and for a period of 30 days after it is dismissed unless State law provides for a longer tolling period."

Recently, the U.S. Supreme Court in *Artis v. D.C.* held Section 1367(d)'s instruction to "toll" a state limitations period means to "hold it in abeyance, *i.e.*, stop the clock." 583 U.S. at ___, 138 S. Ct. 594, 598 (2018). Thus, "the limitations clock stops the day the claim is filed in federal court and, 30 days postdismissal, restarts from the point at which it had stopped." *Id.*; *see also In re Vertrue Inc. Mktg. & Sales Practices Litig.*, 719 F.3d 474, 481–82 (6th Cir. 2013) (holding the statute of limitations stopped running on unnamed class members' state law claims during the pendency of a prior federal court case and did not start to run again until after the claims were dismissed).

The tolling under Section 1367(d) also includes federal appellate proceedings. *Turner v. Kight*, 957 A.2d 984, 996 (Md. 2008) (holding "that §1367(d) serves to suspend the running of a State statute

of limitations from the time the State-law claim is filed in U.S. District Court until 30 days after (1) a final judgment is entered by the U.S. District Court dismissing the pendent State-law claim, or (2) if an appeal is noted from that judgment, issuance of an order of the U.S. Court of Appeals dismissing the appeal or a mandate affirming the dismissal of those claims by the District Court").

Here, the Kims allege that the statute of limitations for their claims against Damus began running in September 2009 when they terminated him. AA163 at ¶ 27. Accepting this allegation as true¹¹ and applying tolling under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d), the statute of limitations began running in September 2009, but it was suspended from March

_

Although all factual allegations are taken as true on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, *Blanchard v. Blanchard*, 108 Nev. 908, 839 P.2d 1320, 1321 (1992), the Court "need not accept as true allegations contradicting documents that are referenced in the complaint," *Lazy Y Ranch LTD v. 24 Behrens*, 546 F.3d 580, 588 (9th Cir. 2008), or "allegations that contradict the complaint's exhibits, documents incorporated by reference, or matters properly subject to judicial notice." *Dettling v. U.S.*, 948 F. Supp. 2d 1116, 1123 (D. Hawaii 2013).

2010 when the amended complaint, which added claims against Damus, was filed in the federal case until 30 days after that action was dismissed with prejudice on September 4, 2015. AA297 at ECF No. 426. At *that time*, the statute began to run again until it ran on the Kims' legal malpractice and negligence claims in April 2017.¹² They could have commenced an action against Damus at any time during that 18-month interregnum, as they had been advised by Dickinson Wright to do on July 30, 2015, through another lawyer. AA188.¹³

These un-contradicted facts and law show that the district court correctly found that under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d), the Nevada statute of limitations against Damus was tolled during the pendency of the

¹² The statute of limitations for the Kims' legal malpractice claim against Damus is two years. NRS 11.207(1). The statute of limitations for their negligence claims against Damus is also two years. NRS 11.190(4)(e); *see also Garner v. Bank of Am. Corp.*, No. 2:12-CV-02076-PMP, 2014 WL 1945142, at *4 (D. Nev. May 13, 2014).

¹³ The statute of limitations for the Kims' unjust enrichment claim against Damus is four years. *In re Amerco Derivative Litig.*, 127 Nev. 196, 228, 252 P.3d 681, 703 (2011) (citing NRS 11.190(2)(c)). It will run in April 2019.

federal action and did not run until 18 months *after* Dickinson Wright terminated its representation and advised the Kims to contact another lawyer if they wished to pursue their claims against Damus in state court. AA163 at ¶ 29; AA188. Thus, the Court should affirm the district court's order granting Dickinson Wright's motion to dismiss.

B. The Kims' Legal Malpractice Claim Against Damus Did Not Accrue until the Conclusion of the Federal Action When Their Damages Became Certain.

The Kims contend that Nevada's litigation tolling rule does not apply to their claims against Damus because there was no underlying action in which Damus committed malpractice. Opening Br. p. 10. The Kims' contention is wrong because they do not understand the rationale for and application of Nevada's litigation tolling rule.

Under Nevada law, a legal malpractice action "does not accrue until the plaintiff knows, or should know all facts relevant to the foregoing elements and damage has been sustained." Semenza v. Nev. Med. Liab. Ins. Co., 104 Nev. 666, 668, 765 P.2d 184, 185–86 (1998) (emphasis added).

In *Semenza*, this Court specifically held "[w]here there has been no final adjudication of the client's case in which the malpractice allegedly occurred, the element of injury or damages remains speculative and remote, thereby making premature the cause of action for professional negligence." Id.; Hewitt v. Allen, 118 Nev. 216, 221, 43 P.3d 345, 348 (2002) ("In the context of litigation malpractice, that is legal malpractice committed in the representation of a party to a lawsuit, damages do not begin to accrue until the underlying legal action has been resolved."); Kopicko v. Young, 114 Nev. 1333, 1337, 971 P.2d 789, 791 (1998) (holding "the ultimate malpractice action against Young did not accrue until dismissal because no legal damages had yet been sustained as a result of the alleged negligence").

In *Brady*, the Court explained that the "rationale" for this rule, *i.e.*, "a malpractice action does not accrue until the end of the litigation, including any appeal, because the damages sought by the action may be cured during the litigation's progression." *Brady, Vorwerck, Ryder & Caspino v. New Albertson's, Inc.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 68, 333 P.3d 229, 235

(2014) (holding the statute of limitations in NRS 11.207 "is tolled against a cause of action for attorney malpractice, pending the outcome of the underlying lawsuit in which the malpractice allegedly occurred").

Here, as set forth above, the federal court granted Damus's motion to dismiss on December 6, 2010, but did not finally dismiss the federal case unil September 4, 2015. AA163 at ¶ 25; AA273–274 at ECF No. 117; AA297 at ECF No.426. The federal court's decision to dismiss Damus applied the rationale of Nevada's litigation tolling rule because the damages the Kims sought to recover from him could have been cured through the federal action, *i.e.* Damus' failure to file an action against the parties involved in the real estate investment could have been cured by successful prosecution of the Kims' claims against those parties in the federal action. *See* AA198–247, *passim*; AA261 at lines 15–17; AA273–274 at ECF No. 117; *Brady, Vorwerck*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 68, 333

P.3d at 235.¹⁴ Thus, September 4, 2015 is the date of "final adjudication" referred to in *Semenza*.

For these reasons, the district court correctly found that the Kims' legal malpractice claim against Damus did not accrue until September 4, 2015, irrespective of whether they suffered damages as a result of his alleged malpractice before that time because it could have been cured by successful prosecution of the federal action. Therefore, the Court should affirm the order granting Dickinson Wright's motion to dismiss on this basis.

C. The District Court Properly Dismissed the Complaint Based on the Attorney Judgment Rule.

The Kims failed to respond to Dickinson Wright's argument in the district court that the court should dismiss the complaint based on

_

The Kims argue that their "claims against Damus were realized in that Appellants had lost their property to foreclosure by failure of Damus to timely file suit to protect their interest" and that "[t]he damages arising from Damus' malpractice were recognized when Appellants lost their real property." Opening Br. pp. 12–13. The Court should disregard these *new allegations and arguments* because the Kims did not allege in the complaint that they retained Damus to prevent the foreclosure of their property or that they subsequently lost that property. AA159–167.

the attorney judgment rule.¹⁵ Their failure to oppose this substantive and dispositive argument in the district court may be taken as an admission of the argument's merit, and that the complaint was properly dismissed. *See* EDCR 2.20(e).

Now, the Kims argue for the first time on appeal that the attorney judgment rule is not applicable. Opening Br. pp. 14–15. The Court should disregard this argument because they waived it by failing to raise it in the district court. AA302–313; *Diamond Enters., Inc. v. Lau*, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951P.2d 73, 74 (1997) ("It is well established that arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this court.").

Moreover, the Kims do not cite any legal authority or point to allegations in the complaint to support their argument that the attorney judgment rule is not applicable in this case.

¹⁵ AA183 at 14:1–28; AA302–313; RA0006–7.

_

It is black-letter law that attorneys cannot be liable for legal malpractice when the advice they give concerns a proposition of state law for which no settled answer has been provided by the Nevada Supreme Court. 7 Am. Jur. 2d Attorneys at Law § 199 ("An attorney is not liable for a mistaken opinion on a point of law that has not been settled by a court of last resort and on which reasonable doubt may well be entertained by informed lawyers."); 3 R. Mallen & J. Smith, Legal Malpractice §18.1 at 2 (5th ed 2000) ("the rule that an attorney is not liable for an error of judgment on an unsettled proposition of law is universally recognized"); Bergstrom v. Noah, 266 Kan. 847, 885, 974 P.2d 531, 560 (1999) (applying attorney judgment rule); Biomet Inc. v. Finnegan Henderson LLP, 967 A.2d 662, 667–68 (D.C. 2009) (holding "[a]n attorney is not liable for an error of judgment regarding an unsettled proposition of law' and that if 'reasonable attorneys could differ with respect to the legal issues presented, the second-guessing after the fact of . . . professional judgment [i]s not a sufficient foundation for a legal malpractice claim'").

This Court has not addressed the effect of 28 U.S.C. § 1367(d)'s tolling rule on Nevada's statute of limitations. Thus, as the district court properly held, the Kims cannot, as a matter of law, ¹⁶ establish that Dickinson Wright committed malpractice, because Dickinson Wright reasonably advised them, based upon the available legal authority, that they could sue Damus at the conclusion of the federal action. For this reason, the Court should affirm the district court's order based on the attorney judgment rule.

D. The District Court Correctly Found that the Kims' Claims against Dickinson Wright are Time-Barred.

The Kims do not challenge the other basis on which the district court granted the motion to dismiss—that their claims against

_

¹⁶ Nelson v. Quarles & Brady, LLP, 997 N.E.2d 872, 880–81 (Ill. App. Ct. 2013) ("although the question of whether a lawyer has breached a duty to his client presents a factual question courts have held that the issue may be decided as a matter of law under the doctrine of judgmental immunity which provides that 'an attorney will generally be immune from liability, as a matter of law, for acts or omissions during the conduct of litigation, which are the result of an honest exercise of professional judgment'").

Dickinson Wright are time-barred under NRS 11.207—in their opening brief. Thus, they have waived any arguments challenging the district court's order regarding the statute of limitations under NRS 11.207.

Powell, 127 Nev. at 161 n. 3, 252 P.3d at 672 n. 3 (holding issues not raised in an appellant's opening brief are deemed waived) (citations omitted).

Therefore, the Court should affirm the district court's order on this basis without further consideration.

If the Court does review this part of the district court's order, however, it should affirm the order because the district court correctly found that the Kims' claims against Dickinson Wright are time-barred.

Under 11.207(1), "An action against an attorney . . . to recover damages for malpractice, whether based on a breach of duty or contract, must be commenced within 4 years after the plaintiff sustains damage or within 2 years after the plaintiff discovers or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the material facts which constitute the cause of action, *whichever occurs earlier*." *Id.* (emphasis added).

NRS 11.207 applies to each of plaintiffs' claims because it "is applicable to legal malpractice claims, whether based on breach of contractual obligations or breach of fiduciary duties." Stalk v. Mushkin, 125 Nev. 21, 25, 199 P.3d 838, 841 (2009) (emphasis added); see also Stumpf v. Albracht, 982 F.2d 275, 278 (8th Cir. 1992) (holding statute of limitations for malpractice applied to the fraud claim because "[i]f parties were permitted to circumvent the statute of limitations via artful pleading, the statute of limitations would serve no purpose"); Quintilliani v. Mannerino, 62 Cal. App. 4th 54, 57, 72 Cal. Rptr. 2d 359, 368 (1998) (holding statute of limitations for legal malpractice applied to plaintiff's claim for negligent misrepresentation where plaintiff had intermingled both legal and nonlegal misrepresentations).

Here, the Kims' allegations demonstrate that their claims against Dickinson Wright are time-barred under NRS 11.207. The complaint alleges the Kims sustained damages in September 2011, which is the date they allege a claim against Damus had to be brought. AA162 at ¶ 20; AA163 at ¶ 27; AA164 at ¶ 37. Moreover, the Kims knew

Dickinson Wright had not filed claims against Damus in state court after they were dismissed in the federal action on December 6, 2010 because the complaint alleges "Defendants represented to Plaintiffs that a claim against Damus could be brought at the end of the United States District Court case." AA164 at ¶ 39.

The Kims did not file this action until June 12, 2017, That is more than 4 years after they allegedly sustained damages in September 2011, and more than 2 years after they knew or should have known of the material facts which constitute their alleged malpractice claims, *i.e.*, Dickinson Wright had not re-filed their claims against Damus after the federal court dismissed them in December 2010. Therefore, on the facts pleaded and established in the documents referred to in the Kims' complaint, the district court correctly found that the Kims' claims against Dickinson Wright are time-barred under NRS 11.207.

VIII. CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing, respondents Dickinson Wright, Jodi Donetta Lowry, Jonathan M.A. Salls, Eric Dobberstein, and Michael G. Vartanian respectfully request the Court to affirm the district court's October 17, 2017 order granting Dickinson Wright's motion to dismiss without leave to amend.

MORRIS LAW GROUP